SID J. WHITE

NOV 8 1989

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CLORIDAY COUR

Deputy

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

JEFFREY SHUMINER,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 72,886

The Florida Ear Case No. 88-70,993(11F)

INITIAL BRIEF OF TIE FLORIDA BAR

JO-ANN BRAVERMAN The Florida Bar No. 801003 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Suite 211, Rivergate Plaza 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida (305) 377 - 4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32301 - 8226 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar No. 217395 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32301-8226 (904) 222-5286

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Th Fl rid Bar filed its Complaint and Request for Admissions on August 18, 1988. On August 31, 1988, the Honorable Steven Shutter was appointed Referee. The Respondent submitted his Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the Complaint and Request for Admissions on October 17, 1988. On December 5, 1988, The Florida Bar filed a Motion Compelling Discovery and Motion for Sanctions as a result of Respondent's failure to respond to discovery requests. On January 3, 1989, Respondent filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings. On January 17, 1989, the Referee deferred ruling on The Florida Bar's Motion for Sanctions affording Respondent the opportunity to petition the Supreme Court for an extension of time in which to conclude the On January 17, 1989, Respondent filed a Motion for proceedings. Extension of Time Within which to Conclude Referee Hearing and Filing of Referee Report. On January 26, 1989, The Florida Bar and Respondent entered into a Stipulation whereby Respondent would enter a guilty plea admitting the facts alleged in the Bar's complaint as well as the disciplinary rule violations and The Florida Bar would not oppose Respondent's Motion for Extension of Time. On January 31, 1989, the Supreme Court of Florida granted Respondent's Motion for Extension of Time to May On February 23, 1989, Respondent filed an 30, 1989. Unconditional Guilty Plea, reserving the right to present testimony and evidence relevant to discipline. On May 12, 1989, The Florida Bar filed a Motion to Set Date for Final Hearing and Motion for Sanctions. On May 18, 1989, Respondent filed his Response to Motion for Sanctions and his response to requested discovery. On May 23, 1989, Respondent filed a Motion for Extension of Time Within which to Conclude Referee Hearing and Filing of Referee Report. On May 30, 1989, the Supreme Court of Florida granted Respondent's Motion for Extension of Time to June 30, 1989. A final hearing was held on June 16, 1989. On July 7, 1989, the Supreme Court of Florida granted the Referee's Request for Extension of Time to file Referee Report to July 17, 1989. The Referee entered his Report of Referee on July 10, 1989, finding Respondent guilty of all violations charged by The Florida Bar and to which Respondent had entered an Unconditional Plea of Guilty. The Referee recommended that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for eighteen (18) months, followed by a probationary period of thirty (30) months and 100 hours of community service.

This cause was considered by the Board of Governor's of The Florida Bar at its meeting which ended September 23, 1989. The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review on October 9, 1989 appealing the Referee's recommended discipline of an eighteen month suspension.

STATEMENTS OF THE FACTS

The Florida Bar weld dopt the Referee's finding of facts as contained in the Report of Referee. Those findings have been included below for the Court's convenience.

This Referee finds the following facts:

- A. He is, and at all times hereinafter mentioned was a member of The Florida Bar, subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of the Supreme Court of Florida.
- B. He maintained a trust account at Continental National Bank of Miami, Miami, Florida, Account No. 6-121-2 (hereinafter referred to as "trust account").
- C. An audit of his trust account was undertaken by Carlos Ruga. The Florida Bar Staff Auditor, which included all recorded trust account transactions during the period January 1, 1987 through January 31, 1988.
- D. As of October 30, 1987 he should have preserved in his trust account at least TWELVE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED SIX DOLLARS AND TWENTY CENTS (\$12,206.20) representing funds received from or on behalf of clients (hereinafter referred to as "client liability").
- E. His trust account bank statement reflects a balance of EIGHT HUNDRED FORTY TWO DOLLARS AND FIFTY FOUR CENTS (\$842.54) as of October 30, 1987.
- F. His trust account client liability exceeded trust account assets as of October 30, 1987.

- G. As of October 30, 1987, there was a shortage in his trust account in the amount of ELEVEN THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED SIXTY THREE DOLLARS AND SIXTY-SIX CENTS (\$11,363.66).
- H. The shortage in his trust account was created by his unauthorized use of trust funds for the benefit of himself and/or persons other than the particular client for whom or from whom funds were received.
- I. By reason of the foregoing, he misappropriated trust funds.
- J. His misuse of trust funds constitutes a violation of5-1.1, Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.
- K. He represented Felipe Sudarsky (hereinafter referred to as "Sudarsky") in a real estate transaction.
 - L. Sudarsky is a principal of Percheron, Inc.
- M. On or about April 3, 1987 he received from Sudarsky or on his behalf the sum of ELEVEN THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$11,000.00) in connection with his representation of Sudarsky (hereinafter referred to as "Sudarsky trust funds").
- N. He deposited the Sudarsky trust funds into his trust account on April 3, 1987.
- O. On April 3, 1987, he issued Check No. 1007 from his trust account, made payable to himself, in the amount of \$500.00 for his attorney's fees in connection with his representation of Sudarsky.
- P. As of April 3, 1987 his trust account client liability in connection with his representation of Sudarsky was the

remaining balance of TEN THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$10,500.00).

- Q. He failed to preserve the remaining balance of the Sudarsky trust funds in the amount of \$10,500.00 in his trust account for use in connection with the real estate transaction.
- R. He utilized the remaining balance of the Sudarsky trust funds in the amount of \$10,500.00 for other unauthorized purposes.
- S. by reason of the foregoing, he misappropriated the Sudarsky trust funds.
- T. His handling of funds he received from or on behalf of Sudarsky constitutes misappropriation of trust funds in violation of Rule 5-1.1, Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.
- U. He represented Frank Alexander (hereinafter referred to as "Alexander") in connection with a personal injury matter arising from an automobile accident.
- V. In conjunction with his representation of Alexander, he handled the claim for property damage to the vehicle on behalf of the owner of the vehicle, Alexander's mother (hereinafter referred to individually as "Mrs. Alexander" or in conjunction with Alexander as "Alexanders").
- W. During or about June 1987, he entered into an agreement with Liberty Mutual Insurance Company to settle Alexander's claim for the sum of SIX THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$6,000.00).
- X. During or about June 1987, he entered into an agreement with Liberty Mutual Insurance Company to settle the

property damage claim of Mrs. Alexander for the sum of ONE THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED EIGHTY NINE DOLLARS (\$1,589.00).

- Y. He entered into the settlement agreement with the insurance company without the prior knowledge and consent of the Alexanders.
- Z. His actions of settling the Alexanders claims without the prior knowledge and consent of the Alexanders constitute a violation of Rule 4-1.2(a) and 4-1.4(a) & (b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct.
- AA. In June 1987, he received settlement proceeds on behalf of Alexander totalling SIX THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$6,000.00).
- BB. Between June 1987 and January 1988 he failed to advise Alexander that he had settled his claim.
- CC. between June 1987 and January 1988 he failed to advise Alexander that he received settlement proceeds on his behalf.
- DD. Alexander contacted him subsequent to June 1987 to obtain information concerning the status of his claim.
- EE. In response to Alexander's inquiries, he represented to Alexander that the settlement negotiations were proceeding.
- FF. He represented to Alexander that the insurance company had offered THREE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$3,200.00) in settlement.
- GG. His representations to Alexander concerning settlement negotiations and an offer were false in that at the time the representations were made, he had already settled Alexander's claim and had received SIX THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$6,000.00) as settlement proceeds.

- HH. His failure to advise Alexander of both the settlement of his claim and receipt of settlement proceeds, as well as the misrepresentations to Al xander concerning the status of his claim constitutes a violation of Rules 4-8.4(c) and 4-1.15(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct and Rule 3-4.3 of the Rules of Discipline.
- 11. Pursuant to the settlement agreement he entered into on behalf of the Alexanders, in June 1987 he received two checks from the insurance company in an aggregate amount of SEVEN THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED EIGHTY NINE DOLLARS (\$7,589.00) representing settlement proceeds (hereinafter referred to as "Alexander settlement proceeds")
- JJ. The Alexander settlement proceeds funds constitute trust funds.
- KK. He failed to deposit the Alexander settlement proceeds into his trust account.
- LL. His failure to deposit into his trust account the settlement proceeds entrusted to him on behalf of the Alexanders constitutes a violation of Rule 4-1.15(a), Rules of Professional Conduct.
- MM. He maintained an office operating account at Continental National Bank of Miami, Miami Florida, Account No. 6-12-44 (hereinafter referred to as operating account).
- NN. On June 25, 1987, he deposited the Alexander settlement proceeds into the operating account.

00. On or about June 25, 1987, he issued Check No. 1140 from the office account, made payable to Prestige Imports, in the amount of FIVE THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$5,000.00).

PP. He issued check No. 1140 as a deposit for a new car.

QQ. He utilized Alexander settlement proceeds for the benefit of himself or persons other than Alexander, including payment of employees salaries and office operating expenses.

RR. By reason of the foregoing, he misappropriated the Alexander settlement proceeds.

SS. His failure to use Alexander settlement proceeds for the specific purpose for which they were entrusted to him constitutes misappropriation of trust funds in violation of Rule 5-1.1, Rules Regulating Trust Accounts.

TT. On or about November 15, 1986, he executed a Doctor's Lien to protect the fees of Lawrence Tuchinsky for medical services provided to Alexander from funds received, including settlement proceeds.

UU. Although he received settlement proceeds on behalf of Alexander in June 1987, he did not satisfy the Doctor's Lien.

VV. He utilized the Alexander settlement proceeds which were to be used to satisfy the Doctor's Lien for other unauthorized purposes.

WW. He misappropriated the portion of the Alexander settlement proceeds which were to be used to satisfy the Doctor's Lien.

XX. The failure to satisfy the Doctor's Lien from Alexander settlement proceeds and the unauthorized use of said

funds constitutes a violation of Rule 5-1.1, Rules Regulating
Trust Accounts and Rule 4-1.15(b), Rules of Professional
Conduct.

YY. He represented Eduardo Soto (hereinafter referred to as "Soto") in a personal injury matter arising from an automobile accident.

ZZ. On or about October 10, 1986, he executed a Doctor's

Lien to protect the fees of David Tuchinsky for medical services

provided to Soto from funds received, including settlement

proceeds.

AAA. He negotiated a settlement on behalf of Soto with Orion Insurance Company.

BBB. Pursuant to the settlement agreement he entered into on behalf of Soto, in July 1987, he received a check from the insurance company in the amount of THREE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$3,200.00) representing settlement proceeds (hereinafter referred to as "Soto settlement proceeds").

CCC. The Soto settlement proceeds funds constitute trust funds.

DDD. On July 20, 1987, he deposited the **Soto** settlement proceeds into the trust account.

EEE. He prepared a settlement statement which provided for payment to him of \$500.00 for his attorney±s fee, payment to David Tuchinsky of ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$1,000.00) to satisfy the Doctor's Lien and payment to Soto of ONE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$1,700.00) which represented the net settlement

proceeds due his client, Soto (hereinafter referred to as "Soto
settlement statement).

FFF. The Soto settlement statement was executed by Soto and reflected authorization to disburse Soto settlement proceeds.

GGG. On July 17, 1988, he issued Check No. 1017 from the trust account, made payable to himself, in the amount of \$500.00 representing the attorney's fees in accordance with the Soto settlement statement.

HHH. On July 28, 1988, he issued Check No. 2021 from the trust account, made payable to Soto, in the amount of ONE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$1,700.00) representing the net proceeds due Soto in accordance with the settlement statement.

111. He failed to issue a check from his trust account for payment to David Tuchinsky in accordance with the settlement statement and Doctor's Lien.

JJJ. He utilized funds in the amount of ONE THOUSAND DOLLARS (\$1,000.00) which were entrusted to him for payment to David Tuchinsky for other unauthorized purposes.

KKK. He misappropriated the portion of the Soto settlement proceeds which were to be used to satisfy the Doctor's Lien.

LLL. The failure to disburse the Soto settlement proceeds in accordance with the settlement statement, as well as his misappropriation of funds which were to be used to satisfy the Doctor's Lien constitutes a violation of Rule 5-1.1, Rules Regulating Trust Accounts, and Rule 4-1.15(b), Rules of Professional Conduct.

MMM. He represented lestor Garcia (hereinafter referred to as Garcia) in a personal injury arising from an automobile accident.

NNN. He negotiated a settlement on behalf of Garcia with an insurance company.

000. On or about November 14, 1986, he executed a Doctor's Lien to protect the fees of Lawrence Tuchinsky for medical services provided to Garcia from funds received, including settlement proceeds.

PPP. Pursuant to the settlement agreement he entered into on behalf of Garcia, in or about July 1987, he received a check from the insurance company in the amount of FOUR THOUSAND FIVE HUNDRED DOLLARS (\$4,500.00) representing settlement proceeds (hereinafter referred to as "Garcia settlement proceeds").

QQQ. The Garcia settlement proceeds funds constitute trust funds.

RRR. On July 20, 1987, he deposited the Garcia settlement proceeds into the trust account.

SSS. He prepared a settlement statement dated July 17, 1987 which provided for payment of ONE THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED TWENTY FIVE DOLLARS (\$1,125.00) to him for the attorney's fee and payment to Garcia of TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED EIGHTEEN DOLLARS AND EIGHTY CENTS (\$2,818.80) which represented the net settlement proceeds due his client, Garcia (hereinafter referred to as "Garcia settlement statement").

TTT. Pursuant to the Garcia settlement statement, \$500.00 was retained by him for payment of Garcia's medical bills and \$56.20 was retained by him for payment of 5% sales tax.

UUU. The Garcia settlement statement was executed by Garcia and reflected authorization to disburse Garcia settlement proceeds.

VVV. On July 17, 1988, he issued Check No. 1015, from the trust account, made payable to himself, in the amount of ONE THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED TWENTY FIVE DOLLARS (\$1,125.00) representing the attorneys fees in accordance with the Garcia settlement statement.

WWW. On July 17, 1988 he issued Check No. 1014 from the trust account, made payable to Garcia, in the amount of TWO THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED EIGHTEEN DOLLARS AND EIGHTY-EIGHT CENTS (\$2,818.88) representing the net proceeds due Garcia in accordance with the settlement agreement.

XXX. He failed to issue a check from his trust account for payment to Lawrence Tuchinsky in accordance with the Garcia settlement statement and Doctor's Lien.

YYY. He failed to issue a check from his trust account for payment of the sales tax in accordance with the Garcia settlement statement.

ZZZ. He utilized funds in the amount of \$556.20 which was entrusted to him for payment of medical bills and sales tax for other unauthorized purposes.

AAAA. He misappropriated the portion of the Garcia settlement proceeds which were to be used to satisfy a Doctor's Lien and to pay sales tax.

BBBB. The failure to disburse the Garcia settlement proceeds in accordance with the settlement statement, as well as his misappropriation of funds which were to be used to satisfy the Doctor's Lien and to pay sales tax constitutes a violation of Rule 5-1.1, Rules Regulating Trust Accounts and Rule 1.1.15(b), Rules of Professional Conduct.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Referee's recommendation that the Respondent receive an eighteen month suspension is inappropriate for misconduct involving Respondent's misappropriation of clients' funds, funds to be used to satisfy doctor's liens and taxes, settling a client's claim without their knowledge or consent and misrepresentation to a client. This type of misconduct, even if mitigating factors had been substantiated, mandates disbarment.

ARGUMENT

I. WHETHER DISBARMENT IS APPROPRIATE AND WHETHER THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF AN EIGHTEEN MONTH SUSPENSION IS INAPPROPRIATE GIVEN THE SERIOUS NATURE OF RESPONDENT'S MISCONDUCT

While the Referee's findings of fact are presumed to be correct, it is a well established point of law in Florida that the Florida Supreme Court is not bound by the Referee's recommendation of the discipline to be imposed. The Florida Bar v. Weaver, 356 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1978), The Florida Bar v. Mueller, 351 So.2d 960 (Fla. 1977). In fact, the Florida Supreme Court exercises a broad scope of review in evaluating a referee's recommendation of discipline. The Florida Bar v. Patarni, 14 FLW 458 (Sept 22, 1989).

Respondent was found guilty of and admitted to the misappropriation of client's funds and funds to be used to satisfy doctor's liens and taxes. (RR 2-7). This misappropriation amounted to approximately \$20,000.00 over a six (6) month period of time (RR 1-7). Furthermore, Respondent was found guilty of and admitted to settling a client's claim without their knowledge or consent, misrepresenting to the client that negotiations were still proceeding and that an offer had been made for an amount that was half of what Respondent had already settled the case for and had, in fact, received and already misappropriated (RK 2-4). This type of professional misconduct not only warrants disbarment but mandates disbarment.

As stated by this Court in <u>The Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783, 785 (Fla. 1979), misuse of client's funds is one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit. This Court went on to warn "henceforth, we will not be reluctant to disbar an attorney for this type of offense even though no client is injured". This court reemphasized it's warning of disbarment for misuse of clients' funds even where there is restitution while holding that it is appropriate to take into consideration circumstances surrounding the incident. <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> Pincket, 398 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1981).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Harris</u>, 400 So.2d 1220, (Fla. 1981), the Florida Supreme Court rejected the Referee's recommendation of a thirty six month suspension where Respondent had a continuous and irresponsible pattern of conversion of client's trust funds to his own use, for approximately one (1) year. This Court held that "Respondent's actions demonstrate an attitude wholly inconsistent with the high professional standards of the legal profession". Respondent was disbarred. Likewise, in the case at bar, Respondent had a continuous and irresponsible pattern of conversion of client's trust fund for six (6) months and should, accordingly, be disbarred.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Davis</u>, 474 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1985), Respondent was disbarred when he used clients' trust funds to satisfy personal obligations, among other things. Likewise, in the case at Bar, Respondent used client's trust funds to pay for personal office expenses and to make a deposit on a Jaguar (T 142-143, 167) and should be disbarred.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Bussey</u>, 529 So.2d 1112 (Fla. 1988), the Florida Supreme Court rejected the Referee's recommendation of a two year suspension in a situation analogized to an attorney misappropriating clients' fund. As this Court stated,

"An attorney is held to a high standard of trust. Like the attorney who misappropriates a clients' funds, the Respondent in this case has abused his position of trust through his misconduct. It is precisely this sort of conduct that tarnishes the reputation of attorneys in Florida. The Respondent and his associates, by taking advantage of their positions of trust have engaged in the type of conduct which damages the reputation of attorneys throughout the state. His conduct "does irreparable harm to the public image of attorneys in this state. Indeed the public has been most vocal about the need for protection from dishonest lawyers. It is therefore without hesitation that we provide that protection."

Likewise, the Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions mandate that Respondent be disbarred for his misconduct. Rule 4.11 provides for disbarment "when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury." Rule 5.11 provides that disbarment is appropriate when "a lawyer engages in any other intentional conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice law." It is the Bar's position as supported by the record that Respondent intentionally and knowingly converted close to \$20,000.00 of his client's property. Respondent's contention that he didn't know he was taking the funds (T 95), didn't realize what he was doing (T 96) and that he thought he could "borrow the money'' (T 96) doesn't stand up against the record. On June 22, 1987, Respondent received \$7,589.00 on behalf of his client. On June 25, 1987,

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