IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant/Appellant

₹.

1

:

JEFFREY SHUMINER,

Respondent/Appellee

OEC 4 1969 pepulty Clerk

Supreme Court Case "No. 72,886

The Florida Bar File No. 88-70,993 (11F)

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

RICHARD BARON Florida Bar No. 178674 Baron and Cliff 11077 Biscayne Blvd. Suite 307 Miami, Florida 33161 (305) 893-2535

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The recommendation of the Referee that the Respondent be suspended from practice for eighteen months, that he serve a probationary period and perform community service after completing his suspension, and that he pay costs is appropriate for the actions admitted by the Respondent in light of the substantial mitigating factors considered and accepted by the Referee, and is in conformity with prior decisions of The Supreme Court of Florida concerning attorney discipline.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF AN EIGHTEEN MONTH SUSPENSION, FOLLOWED BY A PROBATIONARY PERIOD OF THIRTY MONTHS AND 100 HOURS OF COMMUNITY SERVICE, IS APPROPRIATE IN CONSIDERATION OF THE ACTIONS ADMITTED BY THE RESPONDENT AND THE MITIGATING FACTORS CONSIDERED BY THE REFEREE.

While it is clear that the Florida Supreme Court exercises a broad scope of review in evaluating a referee's recommendation of discipline, The Florida Bar v. <u>Patarini</u>, **14** F.L.W. **458** (Sept. 22, **1989);** <u>The Florida Bar in re Inqles</u>, 471 So.2d **38** (Fla. **1985)**, the Referee's report comes before the Court "clothed in correctness", The Florida Bar v. Miller, 14 F.L.W. **399** (Aug. 4, **1989)**, and will be upheld unless it is shown to be erroneous,

without record support, unlawful, or unjustified, <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Newman</u>, 513 So.2d 656 (Fla. 1987); <u>The Florida Bar v. Marks</u>, 492 So.2d 1327 (Fla. 1986); <u>The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker</u>, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986); <u>The Florida Bar v. Price</u>, 478 So.2d 812 (Fla. 1985); Rule 3.7-6(c)(5) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar (Discipline). The Florida Bar has not made such a showing.

From the time of his initial contact with the auditor for The Florida Bar in February 1988, the Respondent has been candid and forthright regarding his behavior and his actions, and has cooperated with the disciplinary proceedings (RR 8). The Respondent has never disputed that during his first year of legal practice, his actions with regard to certain client funds represented violations of the rules regulating trust accounts and the rules of professional conduct, and he filed an Unconditional Plea of Guilty to that effect some four months prior to the hearing before the Referee (RR 1).

Likewise, since the initiation of this case, the Respondent has, by way of explanation and not excuse, been completely open in admitting his drug and alcohol addiction. At the hearing before the Referee, testimony was adduced concerning the Respondent's chemical dependency history and his successful efforts at rehabilitation (RR 7; T 15-54, 94-95, 114). After hearing the testimony, the Referee, in recommending discipline, found as mitigating factors the following:

1. The Respondent had no prior disciplinary complaints filed against him;

2. The Respondent, at the time of the violations, had been undergoing severe emotional problems resulting from his addiction to cocaine and alcohol, as well as other family and personal problems;

3. The Respondent had been making serious and successful efforts at rehabilitating himself through an ongoing program of recovery from his addiction;

4. The Respondent had made a timely and good faith effort to make restitution to his clients who were affected by his trust fund violations, and had entered into a repayment plan with the two medical providers to whom money remained owing;

5. The Respondent had cooperated in the disciplinary proceedings by waiving a probable cause hearing and filing a voluntary unconditional plea of guilty:

6. The Respondent was not an experienced attorney, having been in practice for only one year at the time of the violations;

7. The Respondent had demonstrated his understanding of the nature of the violations and had demonstrated genuine remorse regarding his conduct (RR 8).

In determining appropriate discipline in this type of case, The Florida Supreme Court has held:

"First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like

violations.", <u>The Florida Bar v. Pahules</u>, 233 So.2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970).

There is no question that the misuse of client funds is one of the most serious violations an attorney can commit, <u>The Florida Bar v. Newman</u>, 513 So.2d 656 (Fla. 1987); <u>The Florida Bar v. Breed</u>, 378 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1979). The Respondent has never denied or sought to minimize this fact (T 97). While there is a presumption that disbarment is appropriate upon a finding of such misuse of funds, <u>The Florida Bar v. Schiller</u>, 537 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1989), mitigation should be taken into consideration unless a specific penalty is mandated for a particular conduct, <u>The Florida Bar v. Pincket</u>, 398 So.2d 802 (Fla. 1981). Contrary to The Florida Bar's assertion in its brief (p. 17), Florida's Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions do not "mandate that Respondent be disbarred for his misconduct", but state that,

"Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances disbarment is <u>appropriate</u> when a lawyer intentionally or knowingly converts client property regardless of injury or potential injury.", Rules 4.1 and 4.11 (Emphasis supplied).

In the present case, substantial mitigating factors were presented to and accepted by the Referee. This Court has, in the past, held that an adequate showing of any of these mitigating factors or a combination thereof, can serve to rebut the presumption for disbarment.

The Respondent testified and the Referee found that the Respondent was undergoing severe emotional upheavals at the time the violations occurred, including the breakup of his marriage coupled with the recent birth of his child (T 94), see <u>The</u>

Florida Bar V. Patarini, supra. The Referee further found that no previous disciplinary complaints had been filed against the Respondent (RR 8), a finding not contradicted by The Florida Bar, cf. The Florida Bar V. Mims, 532 So.2d 671 (Fla. 1988); The Florida Bar V. Newhouse, 539 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1989). In fact, two witnesses, both of whom were sitting judges, testified to the Respondent's competence and moral character, see The Florida Bar V. Diamond, 14 F.L.W. 459 (Sept. 22, 1989).

This Court has held that a respondent's cooperation with The Florida Bar and restitution of funds involved are mitigating factors which are to be given substantial weight, <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Pincket</u>, supra. at 803; <u>The Florida Bar v. Schiller</u>, supra. at 993; <u>The Florida Bar v. Harper</u>, 518 So.2d 262 (Fla. 1988). The Respondent in this case testified that he had made full restitution to all clients (T 98-101) and had entered into a repayment plan with the physicians to whom money was owed (T 103-104), and the Referee so found (RR 8). Conversely, in **a** very recent case, this Court has held that the failure to make restitution and a lack of cooperation in a similar situation will be considered aggravating factors which warrant disbarment, despite proven chemical dependency, <u>The Florida Bar v. Golub</u>, 14 F.L.W. 489 (Oct. 6, 1989).

The Respondent further testified that despite his in-patient treatment for chemical dependency, with the strict prohibitions against communication such treatment entailed (T 123), and the difficulty he had in obtaining records (T 116, 137), he had

attempted to the best of his ability to cooperate in the disciplinary proceedings against him (T 106). Such cooperation included the Respondent's waiving a probable cause hearing and filing an unconditional plea of guilty to the facts alleged against him (RR 8).

In explaining the root cause of his problems, the Respondent presented the Referee with an extensive history of chemical dependency. At the outset, it should be stressed that at no time did the Respondent seek to excuse his behavior by hiding behind his addiction and, in fact, agreed that his actions required sanctions to be imposed (T 96-97). The Florida Bar in its brief 20) argues that addiction must be proven by clear and (p. convincing evidence to be the cause of the misconduct, but can cite no Florida caselaw imposing that standard. At the hearing before the Referee, both the expert witness called by the Respondent and the Respondent himself presented detailed testimony regarding the Respondent's chemical dependency history and the nature of his addiction (T 15-54, 94-95, 114). Further, the Respondent's expert, Dr. John Eustace, specifically testified that but for the Respondent's addiction, he would not have committed the violations at issue (T 54-57). The evidence of chemical dependency and Dr. Eustace's opinion were not contradicted by The Florida Bar and were accepted by the Referee (RR 8). A referee is permitted to place great weight on an expert's opinion in the area of chemical dependency, The Florida Bar. v. Headley, 475 So.2d 1213, 1214 (Fla. 1985). The Bar made

no showing before the Referee and has advanced no argument in its brief as to why Dr. Eustace's opinion and the Respondent's own testimony should be disregarded.

It is this Court's heavy responsibility to mete out discipline to attorney's charged with ethical violations. As stated by The Bar in its brief (p. 20), this Court is being presented more and more frequently with instances where an attorney's chemical dependency inevitably leads him to а disciplinary hearing before this forum. Unfortunately, a license to practice law does not act as a shield against a disease which is ravishing this country. However, the members of the bar in Florida have an advantage that lawyers in many other states do not: first, this Court is enlightened regrading the disease of addiction; and, second, as a result of this enlightenment, it has developed a theory and practice in disciplinary matters involving chemical dependency which both protects the public and offers the attorney a chance to recover from his or her illness.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Larkin</u>, 420 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1982), this Court stated:

"If alcoholism is dealt with properly, not only will an attorney's clients and the public be protected, but the attorney may be able to be restored as a fully contributing member of the legal **profession."**

Clearly, an attorney cannot come before this Court, allege chemical dependency as the cause of his ethical violations or criminal conduct and, without more, expect the Court to mitigate the severity of the sanctions imposed, see The Florida Bar v.

<u>Golub</u>, 14 F.L.W. 489 (Oct. 6, 1989). However, in <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>v. Jahn</u>, 509 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1987), this Court stated:

"An attorney with a chemical dependency problem, whether the drug of his choice is legal such as alcohol, or illegal such as cocaine, should be encouraged to seek treatment to rid himself of the dependency. We have held in prior bar disciplinary cases that an addicted attorney who has demonstrated positive efforts to free himself of his drug dependency should have that fact recognized by the referee and this Court when considering the appropriate discipline to be imposed."

Where efforts at rehabilitation have been demonstrated, this Court has often determined that the sanction of suspension rather than disbarment is called for, even in circumstances involving misuse of client trust funds, The Florida Bar v. Blalock, 325 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1976) (indefinite suspension, demonstration of rehabilitation). Likewise, the Court has ordered suspension rather than disbarment in disciplinary matters involving chemical dependency, The Florida Bar v. Franke, 14 F.L.W. 460 (Sept. 22, 1989) (petty theft - use of drugs: 90 day suspension, 2 year probationary period, completion of F.L.A. program); The Florida Bar v. Finkelstein, 522 So.2d 322 (Fla. 1988) (possession of drugs - DUI: 1 year suspension, 2 year probationary period, completion of F.L.A. program); The Florida Bar v. Jahn, 509 So.2d (Fla. 1987) (possession and delivery of cocaine: 3 year 285 suspension); The Florida Bar v. Shores, 500 So.2d 139 (Fla. 1986) (neglect of legal matter - misconduct constituting a felony or misdemeanor: 2 year probation, compliance with F.L.A. program); The Florida Bar v. Thompson, 500 So.2d 1335 (Fla. 1986)

(possession of cocaine: 91 day suspension, 2 year probationary period, drug treatment evaluation); The Florida Bar v. Rosen, 495 So.2d 180 (Fla. 1986) (drug trafficking: 3 year suspension); The Florida Bar v. Dietrich, 469 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1985) (neglect of law practice - defalcations: 2 year suspension, proof of rehabilitation); The Florida Bar v. Larkin, 420 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1982) (conduct prejudicial to administration of justice - neglect of legal matter: 91 day suspension, proof of rehabilitation).

In the present case, the Respondent testified regarding his efforts at rehabilitation and recovery (T 108-114). These efforts were corroborated by Dr. Eustace, who continues to see the Respondent to this day (T 17-18, 32-36), and by William Kilby, staff attorney for Florida Lawyers Assistance, Inc. (T 60-62), and were accepted by the Referee (RR 8).

In summary, "the stigma of disbarment is a burden on Respondent which is not necessary to encourage reformation or rehabilitation of Respondent and would not result in any greater protection of the public, than would ... suspension.", <u>The Florida Bar v. Diamond</u>, 14 F.L.W. 459 (Sept. 22, 1989), citing <u>The Florida Bar v. Blessing</u>, 440 So.2d 1275, 1277 (Fla. 1983). This Court held in <u>The Florida Bar v. Carbonaro</u>, 464 So.2d 549, 551 (Fla. 1985):

"Disbarment is the extreme measure of discipline that can be imposed on any lawyer. It should be resorted to only in cases where the person charged has demonstrated an attitude or course of conduct that is wholly inconsistent with approved professional standards. To sustain disbarment there must be a showing that the person charged should never be at the bar. It should never be decreed where punishment less

severe, such as reprimand, temporary suspension, or fine will accomplish the desired purpose.", citing <u>The</u> <u>Flori</u>da Bar v. Moore, 194 So.2d 264, 271 (Fla. 1966).

In the present case, it is clear that based on the Respondent's attitude during the disciplinary proceedings, his restitution, his chemical dependency and his ongoing efforts at rehabilitation and recovery from the same, and this Court's pronouncements regarding proper discipline in matters such as this, the sanction of disbarment is in no way warranted. Instead, the Referee's recommended discipline will achieve the desired ends of protecting the public while not irrevocably denying it the services of a qualified attorney, punishing the Respondent while at the same time encouraging him to continue his recovery from addiction, and deterring other members of the bar from engaging in similar conduct.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above, the Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to accept the Referee's report in its entirety and impose discipline consisting of an eighteen month suspension from the date of the Referee's report, a thirty month probationary period after conclusion of the suspension, performance of 100 hours of community service, and payment of all restitution and costs.